IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

| DONALD G. RESHA, | |
|------------------|--------------------------------|
| Petitioner, | |
| v. | CASE NO. 80,228 |
| KATIE D. TUCKER, | |
| Respondent. | , |
| | , |
| | ON REVIEW FROM THE |
| | FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL |
| | |
| | PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF |

Richard E. Johnson Fla. Bar No. 858323 Spriggs & Johnson 324 West College Avenue Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 224-8700

William A. Friedlander Fla. Bar No. 127194 3045 Tower Court Tallahassee, Florida 32303 (904) 562-4396

Attorneys for Petitioner

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Record citations are to Petitioner's Appendix To Petition For Review Of Order Sealing Court Files, submitted to the court below and sent up pursuant to this Court's Order. Citations are to "App. A," "App. B," etc.

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

The Florida Department of Law enforcement (FDLE) arrested Respondent Katie Tucker on February 7, 1990, one day after her resignation as executive director of the Florida Department of Revenue, for falsification of government documents in violation of § 839.25, Fla. Stat.

The Governor and Cabinet had suspended Tucker for 10 days upon receipt of an FDLE report showing that she had abused her office to persecute Petitioner Donald Resha and to destroy his reputation for his political opposition to Tucker and her husband, Daniel Miller, president of Florida AFL-CIO. The FDLE report concluded that Tucker caused Resha to be personally investigated and caused his two retail businesses to be audited; she also had stated that Resha was involved in arganized crime, money laundering and tax evasion as well as illegal trafficking in guns, drugs, and pornography.

Upon release of the FDLE report, Resha bought civil suit against Tucker for various state torts and federal civil rights violations. Tucker's 10 day suspension was to give her an opportunity to convince the Governor and Cabinet she should not be

fired. During this period, Tucker returned to her office to falsify and alter documents in an effort to show that the actions against Resha were the work of an overzealous underling acting without her knowledge or against her orders. As the documents began to surface, FDLE ran another investigation resulting in Tucker's arrest. Following the arrest, Resha amended his civil suit to add a federal count for civil rights cover-up.

Tucker pleaded <u>nolo</u> <u>contendere</u> and was sentenced on June 20, 1990, to a year's probation and payment of about \$3500 in costs to FDLE and the court.

During discovery in the civil suit, Resha learned that Tucker had obtained a sealing, on October 3, 1991, of her criminal court file and all FDLE documents and physical evidence. App. F.

Because the sealed materials are essential to the civil suit, Resha intervened in Tucker's criminal case on January 26, 1992, moving to open the records. App. D. Tucker filed her opposition on January 20, 1992. App. C. The trial court held a hearing on January 27, 1992, at which it was revealed that Tucker had already used a provision of Florida's sealing regimen which enables a criminal defendant with a sealed record lawfully to deny ever having been arrested or sentenced. She had used the provision to obtain a position in the U.S. Coast Guard. App. B., at 18, 22, 27, 37, 40-41.

On February 24, 1992, Circuit Judge N. Sanders Sauls ordered temporary and restricted access to the FDLE materials, but no

access at all to the court file. App. A.

Resha petitioned the First District Court of Appeal on March 23, 1992, for permanent access to all the records. Tucker crosspetitioned, seeking to quash Resha's temporary access to the FDLE files.

On May 22, 1992, the First District Court of Appeal held that Resha should have no access at all, temporary or permanent, to any of the contested files of the court or FDLE. Resha v. Tucker, 600 So. 2d 16 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992).

On May 23, 1992, during the Memorial Day weekend, the First District Court of Appeal entered a writ of prohibition, staying civil trial on the federal civil rights counts until it could resolve the issue of Tucker's qualified immunity from suit based on her status as a public official. <u>Tucker v. Resha</u>, Case No. 92-1744 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). Trial was had on the state law counts, resulting in a substantial jury verdict for Resha on May 29, 1992, including punitive damages, for defamation and invasion of privacy.

Resha sought rehearing and rehearing en banc on the sealing issue on June 8, 1992. Both were denied an June 30, 1992. Resha undertook timely petition for review in this Court on July 27, 1992. This Court granted review on October 13, 1992.

On Octaber 27, 1992, the First District Court of Appeal denied Tucker's claim of qualified immunity, freeing the federal counts for trial. <u>Tucker v. Resha</u>, <u>supra</u>. Further progress in that matter awaits this Court's disposition of the record sealing issue.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Though courts have an inherent power to control their own records, that power operates within certain restraints imposed by the common law and by the First Amendment as interpreted by the U.S. Supreme Court and by this Court.

Under the federal three-prong test, a party seeking to seal court records must demonstrate a compelling interest in closure, that the compelling interest would be harmed absent the closure, and that no less restrictive alternatives could protect the compelling interest. Additional requirements include prior public notice to allow challenges by the public or press and explicit written findings by the court detailing application of the three-prong test.

The Florida three-prong test is similar, but even more stringent. It requires proof of a serious and imminent threat to the administration of justice, an absence of alternatives, and proof that the closure would actually accomplish its stated purpose. It also requires the same advance notice and detailed written findings as the federal test.

Neither Tucker, the trial court, nor the appellate court articulated any compelling interest or serious and imminent threat to the administration of justice. Had any of them made such an effort it would have been unsuccessful. Moreover, total and permanent sealing is the most restrictive possible alternative, not the least. No notice was given of the sealing and no findings were

made to justify the sealing. Tucker's sealing is remarkable in that it fails literally every requirement of both the federal and the state tests.

The court below erred in placing the burden on Resha to show good cause for opening the records and in establishing virtually insurmountable obstacles to showing good cause. This Court has repeatedly and unmistakably stressed that the burden must always rest on the party seeking closure. So too have the federal courts.

A general interest in personal privacy or the general desire to make a fresh start in a career are not adequate grounds to warrant closure of court records. Federal and Florida courts routinely reject much more compelling grounds for closure except in those exceedingly rare instances where one of thethree-prong tests can be satisfied. Tucker's sealing is uniquely disqualified. Under Florida's sealing statute, a sealed criminal record may not be denied for purposes of employment with a law enforcement agency, yet that is what Tucker has done.

The court below erred in refusing to consider the special status of public officials and governmental issues in the jurisprudence of access to public information. Public officials enjoy numerous privileges and immunities in communication not available to ordinary citizens, but they also must accept greater scrutiny and criticism than others have to endure. Official misconduct, especially when it rises to the level of crime, occupies the paramount position in the hierarchy of matters about

which the public has a right to know. In such cases the public's legitimate interest is not only in the operation of the judicial system, but also in the conduct of the defendant.

The right of access to judicial records does not expire with the passage of time. The court below erred in holding that a right of access to judicial records applies only in cases in which the live proceedings were improperly closed. The right of access to records is independent, not compensatory or remedial. The passage of time or the termination of a trial does not extinguish the right of access. If anything, the right grows stronger because countervailing interests such as a defendant's right to a fair trial will not apply to a completed case.

Failure to give notice compounds the error. In this case, the prosecutor who had consented to the sealing spoke out against it upon learning of Resha's objections. This support came too late, but had notice been given as required, the sealing probably would never have happened.

Resha can not prove an important count of his civil suit without evidence which exists only in Tucker's sealed records. Denial of his right to subpoena that evidence prevents him from vindicating his rights in court and therefore amounts to a violation of his state and federal constitutional rights of access to courts.

The court below erred in refusing Resha the benefits of his rights as a victim under the state constitution. As one who

which the public has a right to know. In such cases the public's legitimate interest is not only in the operation of the judicial system, but also in the conduct of the defendant.

The right of access to judicial records does not expire with the passage of time. The court below erred in holding that a right of access to judicial records applies only in cases in which the live proceedings were improperly closed. The right of access to records is independent, not compensatory or remedial. The passage of time or the termination of a trial does not extinguish the right of access. If anything, the right grows stronger because countervailing interests such as a defendant's right to a fair trial will not apply to a completed case.

Failure to give notice compounds the error. In this case, the prosecutor who had consented to the sealing spoke out against it upon learning of Resha's objections. This support came too late, but had notice been given as required, the sealing probably would never have happened.

Resha can not prove an important count of his civil suit without evidence which exists only in Tucker's sealed records. Denial of his right to subpoena that evidence prevents him from vindicating his rights in court and therefore amounts to a violation of his state and federal constitutional rights of access to courts,

The court below erred in refusing Resha the benefits of his rights as a victim under the state constitution. As one who

suffered direct and unique injury from Tucker's crime, Resha meets all standard legal definitions of victim. The District Court had no basis for not acknowledging sealing as a "crucial stage" of a criminal proceeding. It is perhaps the most crucial of all because it negates all the ones before it. In Tucker's case it permitted her to return to political power and become an official in a law enforcement agency, which greatly concerns Resha's peace of mind. In other cases sealing enables offenders to deny their record for the purpose of obtaining firearms, which is a great concern to many victims.

ARGUMENT

I. THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION IS CONTRARY TO DECISIONS OF THE U.S. SUPREME COURT AND OF THIS COURT WHICH ESTABLISH FIRST AMENDMENT AND COMMON LAW RIGHTS OF ACCESS TO JUDICIAL RECORDS,

This Petition seeks review of <u>Resha v. Tucker</u>, 600 So. 2d 16 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), a decision enforcing the sealing of the criminal records of Katie Tucker. In challenging that decision, this Petition necessarily and informally calls into question <u>Russell v. Times Publishins Co.</u>, 592 So. 2d 808 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992) (hereinafter <u>Russell III</u>) and, to a lesser extent, <u>Russell v. Miami Herald Publishins Co.</u>, 570 So. 2d 979 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990) (hereinafter <u>Russell I</u>). These cases represent a recent and mutually reinforcing trilogy of departure from the binding

Russell II is already before this Court as Case No. 79,496.

precedents of courts of greater dignity. All three rest upon the unstated premise that some talismanic quality exempts the sealing of records of completed criminal cases from the standards required for all other judicial closures.

The separation of powers mandated in Article 11, § 3 Fla. Const., and the special administrative powers over the court system reposed in this Court under Article V, § (2)(a), prohibit a coordinate branch of government, such as the legislature, from requiring the closure of court records in Florida. Johnson v. State, 336 So. 2d 93 (Fla. 1976). The same doctrines and provisions prohibit a coordinate branch of government from requiring the opening of court records. Locke v. Hawkes, 595 So. 2d 32 (Fla. 1992). Thus Florida's oft-amended sealing statute' controls only the disposition of executive-branch records except to the extent that it may be viewed as incorporated by Rules 3.692 and 3.989, Fla. R. Cr. P.

Courts, therefore, as an independent branch of government, have discretion over the maintenance and disposition of their own records. That discretion, however, is not exercised in a vacuum and is far from absolute. It is circumscribed by the requirements

The version in effect at the time pertinent to this case appears at § 943.058, <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1991). The most recent amendment took effect on July 1, 1992. Chapter 92-73, <u>Laws of Florida</u>. The new version would not have allowed sealing of the criminal records of Respondent Tucker maintained by the executive branch because she was sentenced under Chapter 839, <u>Fla. Stat.</u>, dealing with offenses by public officers and employees.

of the First Amendment to the U.S. Constitution and by the common law as articulated by the U.S. Supreme Court and by this Court. The decision under review represents a departure from those requirements. The holdings of the First District are plain error as a matter of law.

A. THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT APPLIED THE WRONG STANDARD TO TUCKER'S RECORDS.

The District Court held that Resha, as moving party, labored under a burden of proving "good cause" for unsealing Tucker's criminal file. "Good cause," in the District Court's estimation, consists of a showing that the sealing order was obtained by fraud or perjury on the part of the defendant, or through mistake or inadvertence on the part of the trial court, or "maybe" that the beneficiary of the sealing failed to profit from the act of judicial grace as evidenced by later criminal convictions. Resha V. Tucker, 600 So.2d 16, 18 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). Not only did Resha fail to meet that test, according to the court below, he also failed to demonstrate under "any test" a basis for unsealing, even in part, Tucker's records. Id.

In so holding, the court below relied upon Russell I and Russell II. As will be shown infra, both of these cases represent a dramatic departure from previous case law. Moreover, even Russell I could not support the result the District Court reached in Resha.

1. Tucker's Sealing Fails The Federal Test.

The U.S. Supreme Court has recognized a common law right of access to judicial proceedings and records for at least 45 years:

A trial is a public event. What transpires in the court room is public property. •• There is no special perquisite of the judiciary which enables it, as distinguished from other institutions of democratic government, to suppress, edit, or censor events which transpire in proceedings before it.

Craig v. Harney, 331 U.S. 367, 374 (1947).

Nor is it true, as the court below suggests, that this right of access is confined to live courtroom proceedings rather than judicial records:

It is clear that the courts of this country recognize a general right to inspect and copy public records and documents, including judicial records and documents.

Nixon v. Warner Communications, 435 U.S. 589, 597 (1978).

The ancient common law right of access to judicial records and proceedings was constitutionalized in <u>Richmond Newspapers</u>, <u>Inc. v. Virginia</u>, 448 U.S. 555 (1980), in which, despite the lack of a majority opinion, seven justices recognized that the right of access is embodied in the First Amendment. <u>Id.</u> at 558-581 (plurality opinion); <u>Id.</u> at 584-598 (Brennan and Marshall JJ., concurring); <u>Id.</u> at 598-601 (Stewart, J., concurring); <u>Id.</u> at 601-604 (Blackmun, J. concurring).

The Court's familiar First Amendment strict scrutiny test found perhaps its earliest expression regarding judicial proceedings in Globe Newspaper Co. v. Superior Court, 457 U.S. 596

(1982):

where, as in the present case, the State attempts to deny the right of access in order to inhibit the disclosure of sensitive information, it must be shown that the denial is necessitated by a compelling governmental interest, and is narrowly tailored to serve that interest.

Id. at 606-7.

Press-Enterprise v. Superior Court (Press-Enterprise I), 464 U.S. 501 (1984), established the First Amendment presumption of openness that must now be the starting point of any closure determination:

[T]he presumption may be overcome only by an overriding interest based on findings that closure is essential to preserve higher values and is narrowly tailored to serve that interest. The interest is to be articulated along with findings specific enough that a reviewing court can determine whether the closure order was properly entered.

<u>Id</u>. at 510.

The present standard arose from <u>Press-Enterprise v. Superior</u>

<u>Court (Press-Enterprise 11)</u> 478 U.S. 1 (1986). Under this threeprong test, access to judicial records may be denied only if (1)

closure serves a compelling interest; (2) there is a "substantial
probability" that, in the absence of closure, that compelling
interest would be harmed; and (3) there are no alternatives to
closure that would adequately protect that compelling interest.

Moreover, the court may not base a closure decision on conclusory
assertions, but must make specific, on-the-record factual findings.

<u>Id</u>. at 13-14. Obviously, as with any strict scrutiny test, the burden necessarily falls upon the party seeking closure.

As the order sealing Tucker's records in the instant case (App. F) plainly shows, no such findings were made. The only findings in the order are that she has no adjudication of guilt in prior cases, no adjudication of guilt in this case, and no prior sealing. Neither Tucker, the trial court, nor the appeals court has asserted or even suggested a compelling interest in sealing these records. The only reason offered in support of the sealing over the entire course of these proceedings was presented orally at the hearing on Resha's motion to unseal the records. There, one of Tucker's lawyers and the judge who sealed the records made reference to Tucker's need to have the records sealed so she could qualify for a position in the U.S. Coast Guard by lawfully denying her intercourse with the criminal justice system. App. B, at 18, 22, 27, 37, 40-41. As is shown infra, the constitution allows exceedingly few compelling interests that may override the right of access to court records, and this reason would not pass the test even had it been properly asserted.

The three-prong formulation is not explicitly enumerated in <u>Press-Enterprise II</u> itself, yet the verbatim language used here has come to be accepted in federal and Florida courts as the three-prong test of <u>Press-Enterprise II</u>. <u>Washinston Post v. Robinson</u>, 935 F.2d 282, 290 (D.C. Cir. 1991); <u>Oregonian Publishins Co. v. U.S. District Court</u>, 920 F.2d 1462, 1466 (9th Cir. 1990); <u>In Rewashington Post Co.</u>, 807 F.2d 383, 392 (4th Cir. 1986); <u>Russell v. Miami Herald Publishins Co.</u>, 570 So. 2d 979, 983 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990).

Having thus failed the first prong of the test by not including specific written findings of a compelling interest for closure, Tucker's sealing falls short of the threshold for even applying the second prong. A nonexistent compelling interest can not possibly be harmed by opening the records. As for the third prong, the total and permanent sealing mandated by the appeals court is the most restrictive alternative possible, not the least.

2. Tucker's Sealing Fails The Florida Test.

A party seeking closure of a criminal record or proceeding under Florida law faces an even more stringent standard than the one required by the First Amendment. Florida has its own three-prong test, under which sealing will be granted only if (1) closure is necessary to prevent a serious and imminent threat to the administration of justice; (2) no alternatives are available, other than a change of venue, which would protect a defendant's right to a fair trial; and (3) closure would be effective in protecting the rights of the accused, without being broader than necessary to accomplish this purpose. Miami Herald Publishing Co. v. Lewis, 426 So. 2d 1, 6 (Fla. 1982). Moreover, the judge applying the three-prong test must operate under some strict guidelines: notice must be given to the public that a motion for closure of a record or

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