no Rig Case



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

**NV \$0** 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

DONALD G. RESHA,

Petitioner,

CASE NO.: 80,228

By\_\_\_\_\_Chief Deputy Clerk

vs .

KATIE D. TUCKER,

Respondent.

ON REVIEW FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

**RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF** 

MCCONNAUGHHAY, ROLAND, MAIDA, CHERR, & MCCRANIE, P.A.

BRIAN S. DUFFY
Florida Bar Number: 180007
Post Office Drawer 229
Tallahassee, Florida 32302
(904) 222-8121
Facsimile: (904)222-4359
Attorneys for respondent

#

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

This is a case without facts.

Matters pertinent to consideration of the legal issues before the Court are:

1. Resha presented no evidence at any stage of the proceedings below. There was no affidavit. There was no sworn motion. There were no sworn interrogatory answers. There was no Sworn statement. There was no tangible evidence. There was no proffer of evidence.

2. Mr. Resha made no personal appearance at any stage of the proceedings below. He did not even attend the hearing before the trial judge. No reason was assigned for Mr. Resha's non-appearance.

3. Resha claims that, in order to win his civil action against Tucker, he needs evidence in the custody of an executive branch investigating agency, the Florida Department of Law Enforcement ("FDLE"). Resha presented no evidence that he had requested the evidence from FDLE and been refused based upon the trial court's order. Resha presented no evidence that the things he sought to obtain from FDLE were sealed by the court's order.

4. Resha presented no evidence that he did not obtain a copy of the court and FDLE records before the sealing order was entered.

5. Resha presented no evidence that he must have access to the sealed records in order to establish a basis for unsealing those records.

**6**. Resha presented no evidence of any need for the sealed records in order to prosecute his civil suit against Tucker.

7. Resha presented no evidence supporting his claimed "victim" status. Resha presented no evidence that he ever claimed victim status in the criminal case before the records were sealed.

8. Resha presented no evidence that notice was not furnished of the trial court's consideration of the request to seal Tucker's records. Resha presented no evidence that notice of the trial court's consideration of the request to seal Tucker's records had not been given to him.

9. Resha presented no evidence that he had asked anyone associated with the criminal case, including the court, to notify him of any request to seal records.

10, Resha presented no evidence that Tucker committed any crime, ever.

11. Resha presented no evidence that Tucker committed any crime while holding public office.

12. It is a matter of speculation as to why Resha did not submit any sworn statement or evidence in support of his motion and was content to rely solely upon written and oral arguments of his attorneys, who likewise offered no evidence in support of or in opposition to anything. It is a matter of speculation as to what Resha's motives are for seeking to unseal all of the court and agency records, when he asserted an actual need for only the agency's tangible evidence in order to prosecute his civil case. It is a matter of speculation as to whether these proceedings are a continuing and persevering effort of Resha to harass Tucker with the hope of eventually causing her to lose her current job and

future employment as well. Mr. Resha did not subject himself to cross-examination regarding any of these matters.

13. Resha's lawyers use the cloak of immunity to litter this record with unsubstantiated assertions presented as factual statements. Examples include the following: "During this period, Tucker returned to her office to falsify and alter documents in an effort to show that the actions against Resha were the work of an overzealous underling acting without her knowledge or against her orders."<sup>1</sup> "When Tucker committed the crime described in the sealed records, she was On the government payroll, in a government building, exercising the authority of a high official, using government equipment and materials, all for the purpose of violating a citizen's rights and benefitting herself."' Tucker is "unrepentant" and her conduct was "egregious."<sup>3</sup> Tucker should have been treated differently from other first offenders who plead nolo contendere with adjudication withheld because of "the nature of her crime."4 "Tucker committed her offenses in the line of duty."<sup>5</sup>

'Petitioner's Initial Brief, Statement of Case and Facts, page 2.

<sup>3</sup>Petitioner's Initial Brief, page 27. <sup>4</sup>Petitioner's Initial Brief, page 28. 'Petitioner's Initial Brief, page 30.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Petitioner's Initial Brief, page 26. Petitioner's Brief on Jurisdictian, page 5, similarly states: "Tucker was arrested and sentenced for a crime committed through exercise of her official powers, while she was on the state payroll, sitting in a government building, using state materials and equipment, all for the purpose of deceiving the governor and cabinet and persecuting a political opponent for exercise of his First Amendment rights."

In open court before the trial judge, Resha's attorney stated without qualification: "I think the fact that Ms. Tucker continues to make false statements under oath in the civil case . . . she's still practicing this kind of devious and manipulative and behind-the-scenes sort of maneuvering that shows no sense of contrition or regret of any sort, that shows no intention to make a fresh start in life or mend her ways."<sup>6</sup> And, before the District Court of Appeal, Resha's attorneys bluntly reported that "<u>TUCKER COMMITTED</u> A CRIME."<sup>7</sup>

14. Resha relied upon state law and a federal right of access to courts theory before the trial court here. Resha asserted no direct reliance upon the First Amendment to the United States Constitution in the trial court.

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

There is no real record in this case. There is argument **atop** rhetoric steeped in citations to theories not addressed to the trial court and not supported by law. The First District Court of Appeal so recognized and denied Resha relief.

No right of access to these sealed records exists. At best there may be a qualified right of access which in this case is defeated by the interests of the State and Tucker.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Transcript of hearing on Resha's motion to vacate. Pet. App. B, pages 10-11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Petitioner's Reply, First.District Court of Appeal, Case Nos. 92-914 and 92-945, page 4 (upper case and underlining by Resha).

Tucker is entitled to an assumption that she is innocent of the charges lodged against her by the State. The State, recognizing that it functions as the instrument of criminal prosecutions, legislatively expressed its interest in purging false information from its files, in clearing the reputations of innocent persons accused of crimes, in restoring fundamental rights of privacy, and in ensuring that unproven charges do not handicap the former accused's employability.

Resha's reliance upon outright closure cases is misplaced, as there has been public scrutiny of the charges brought against Tucker and the disposition of those charges. The burden should be upon Resha to establish, through admissible evidence, either that Tucker's enjoyment of her vested right to the records sealing order was accomplished through fraud, or that Resha has a legitimate and demonstrated interest in securing the release of the sealed records superior to interests of Tucker and the State. He has done neither.

Resha demonstrated no right to a partial lifting of the sealing order for purposes of his civil action. The right of "access to courts" did not serve to vitiate privileges and immunities otherwise granted by law. "Access to courts" is not "access to all information", even in our Age of Information.

Tucker, a victim of unproven criminal charges, now faces Resha's unending campaign to destroy her. He brands her a criminal, when the law assumes her innocence. He yearns to use sealed records to ruin her current career. Resha is no victim, in

fact or in law. Resha's unsubstantiated rhetoric makes Tucker the victim.

The First District Court of Appeal was correct. Resha is entitled to no relief; his petition should be denied.

#### ARGUMENT

## I. There Is No Constitutional or Common Law Right of Unlimited Access to All Judicial and Investigative Files.

Resha's contention here that he has a right of access to the records of a criminal court and a state investigative agency is based upon an extension of principles well beyond their actual or intended reach.

The United States Supreme Court has recognized limited rights of access to trials and certain preliminary hearings in criminal cases. <u>Richmond Newspapers, Inc. v. Virginia</u>, 448 U.S. 555, 100 S. Ct. 2814, 65 L. Ed. 2d 973 (1980) (holding that the right to attend criminal trials is implicit in the guarantees of the First Amendment); <u>Press-Enterprise Co. v. Superior Court of Cal.</u> ("<u>Press-Enterprise II</u>"), 478 U.S. 1, 106 s. Ct. 2735, 92 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1986) (finding a qualified First Amendment sight of access to criminal preliminary hearings in California because of their trial-like features); <u>Globe Newspaper Co. v. Superior Court</u>, 457 U.S. 596, 102 S. Ct. 2613, 73 L. Ed. 2d 248 (1982) (mandatory exclusion of the public from all criminal trials involving sexual offenses against children violates First Amendment); <u>Press-Enterprise Co. v.</u> <u>Superior Court of Cal.</u> ("Press-Enterprise I"), 464 U.S. 501, 104 S. Ct. 819, 78 L. Ed. 2d 629 (1984) (exclusion of the public from voir dire during a criminal trial and suppression of transcript of closed proceedings absent specific articulated justification was insufficient to overcome the historical presumption of openness of criminal trials).

But the Supreme Court views partial restrictions of public access to court proceedings and papers differently from total or mandatory closures. In Nixon v, Warner Communications, Inc., 435 **U.S. 589, 98** S. Ct. 1306, 55 L. Ed. 2d 570 (1978), the Court was called upon to release to the press tapes that had been admitted into evidence at a criminal trial, which tapes had been played in open court and the conversations widely reported in the press. The Court recognized a common law right of access to judicial records which was not absolute: courts are entitled to exercise discretion over whether to release their own records. While the press certainly had a First Amendment right to publish what it saw and heard in open court, the Supreme Court found no First or Sixth Amendment right to copy the court's records. Pertinent to the petition here is the fact that in Nixon the Court considered it significant that the information was "given wide publicity by all elements of the media." 435 U.S. at 609. Here, the District Court of Appeal pointed out that "the public and press had access to the criminal proceedings against Katie Tucker. It was not until the conclusion of these proceedings that the sealing order was entered." Resha, 600 So. 2d at 18.

In <u>Gannett Co., Inc. v. De Pasquale</u>, 443 U.S. 368, 99 S. Ct. 2898, 61 L. Ed. 2d 608 (1979), the Court found no violation of the First Amendment when there was no absolute ban on access to a suppression hearing in **a** criminal case, since there was still an "opportunity to inform the public of the details of the pretrial hearing accurately and completely." 443 U.S. at 393.

Seattle Times Co. v. Rhinehart, 467 U.S. 20, 104 S. Ct. 2199, 81 L. Ed. 2d 17 (1984), arose from a civil case in which a trial judge had entered a protective order allowing a litigant access to information from its adversary, but restricting that litigant's dissemination of the information obtained through the court order. The Supreme Court held that the First Amendment had not been offended, since the confidentiality order had been entered to protect substantial government interests of privacy and religious association. And the Court thought it "significant to note that an order prohibiting dissemination of discovered information before trial is not the kind of classic prior restraint that requires exacting First Amendment scrutiny." Also significant, as here, was the fact that the protected information may be disseminated "as long as the information is gained through means independent of the court's processes." 467 U.S. at 33, 34.

In explaining the limitations historically placed upon this qualified right of access, the Supreme Court has observed that grand jury proceedings are properly conducted in complete secrecy, <u>Press-Enterprise II</u>, 478 U.S. at 9, that trial judges may impose restrictions an access to trials when the courtroom will not

accommodate all who seek to attend, <u>Richmond Newspapers, Inc.</u>, 448 U.S. at 581, n. 18, that the public may not intrude upon bench conferences during trial, and that conferences may be held in chambers, since such conferences are distinct from trial proceedings, <u>Richmond Newspapers, Inc.</u>, 448 U.S. at 598, n. 23 (concurring opinion), and also that there is no public right to government information regarding the conditions of public facilities, <u>Houchins v. KQED, Inc.</u>, 438 U.S. 1, 98 S. Ct. 2588, 57 L. Ed. 2d 553 (1978). As the First Circuit noted in <u>El Dia, Inc.</u> v. Hernandez Colon, 963 F. 2d, 488, 494-95 (1st Cir. 1992),

> While the Supreme court has recognized a qualified First Amendment right of access to records and proceedings connected to the criminal justice system [citations], the Court has never recognized a corresponding right of access to Executive Branch documents. What is more, even in the criminal justice system cases, the Court has explicated a demanding standard **as** a prerequisite to finding a constitutionally assured right of access. This standard asks whether the Anglo-American legal system traditionally has allowed public access to the material in question; and whether access "plays a significant positive role in the functioning of the particular process in question." [citations]

Resha does not complain that he was denied access to a criminal trial, that he was denied access to a trial-like preliminary hearing, or that he was denied any opportunity to inspect and copy the court's and the investigative agency's records. The District Court found that "[t]he public and press had access to the criminal proceedings against Tucker.''<u>Resha</u>, 600 So.

2d at 18.<sup>8</sup> Try as he might, Resha's situation simply does not fit the test of the case law he relies upon -- there was no complete closure, no denial of all access, no prior restraint, and no infringement of any qualified right of access he may be found to have had.

# II. <u>The Interests of the State and Tucker Outweigh</u> <u>Any Qualified Access Rights of Resha.</u>

The trial judge entered an order sealing judicial and criminal history records pertaining to the charges lodged against Tucker in this criminal case. The order was entered in express reliance upon section 943.058, Florida Statutes (1991), and Rule 3.692, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. The trial court's order, on its face, reveals compliance with the procedural and substantive requirements of the rule and statute.'

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Resha **so** conceded in his Petition for Review of Order Sealing Court Files before the District Court, served March 23, 1992, at pages 20-21: "Petitioner and his counsel were already in possession of photocopies of the FDLE files, as are all the major media outlets in Florida and most high officials in state government. These photocopies were obtained prior to the sealing order and have been widely disseminated over the past two years. Petitioner's counsel came into possession of these documents at a time when they were public records." Moreover, Resha's argument here (Petitioner's Initial Brief, p. 41) that he was faced with a Catch 22 because "the evidence was in the sealed files and therefore could not be produced " rings hollow.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>There can be no reasonable complaint of a separation of powers violation when the legislature enacts a law to protect the interests of the criminally accused, the courts issue implementing procedural rules and can deny relief in their "sole discretion", and the executive branch is specifically given notice and an Opportunity to object and submit evidence. Petitioner's Initial Brief, pages 8 and 49, n. 15.

Once the sealing order was entered, Tucker had a vested right to decline to acknowledge that **she** had been prosecuted. **§943.058(6)**, Fla. Stat. (1991).<sup>10</sup> Now Resha **seeks** to unseal those records, and by implication destroy Tucker's vested rights.

Tucker's right of privacy, and the State's interest in restoring her privacy, spring from fundamental concepts of liberty: the presumption of innocence, maintaining one's reputation, and the ability to work and be employed. The legislature, through section 943.058, provided an elaborate mechanism to preserve and restore these rights to those accused by the State of having violated its laws when the State has not proven the charges.

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